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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is an
investment holding company. lIts subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and
manufacturing of packaging materials, labels, paper
products and environmentally friendly products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 1993.

The Company’s directors regard Best Grade Advisory
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, to be the ultimate holding company.

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (HK$), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The
financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets, which are carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where judgement and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4. These estimates and
judgement affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and contingent liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the
year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of event and
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from
those estimates.

The adoption of new/revised HKFRS

During the year ended 31st March, 2006, the
Company and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”) adopted the new/revised standards and
interpretations of HKFRS below, which are
relevant to its operations. The 2005
comparatives have been amended as
appropriate, in accordance with the relevant
requirements.
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HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 2 Inventories

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

HKAS 17 Leases

HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements
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56 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d)

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and
Presentation

HKAS 33 Earnings per Share

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

HKAS 39 Transaction and Initial Recognition

(Amendment) of Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payments

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

HK-Int 4 Lease — Determination of the Length

of Lease Term in respect of
Hong Kong Land Leases
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives

HK(SIC)-Int 25 Income Taxes — Changes in tax status
of an Enterprise or its Shareholder

HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions in the Legal form
of Lease

The adoption of new/revised HKASs 1, 2, 7, 8,
10, 16, 21, 23, 24, 27, 33 and 36, HKFRS 3,
HK-Int 4 and HK(SIC)-Int15, 25 and 27 did not
result in substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies. In summary:

— HKAS 1 has affected the presentation of
certain disclosures;

— HKASs 2,7,8,10, 16, 23, 27, 33 and 36,
HKFRS 3, HK-Int 4, and HK(SIC) Int15, 25
and 27 had no material effect on the
Group's policies;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d)

—  HKAS 21 had no material effect on the
Group's policy. The functional currency of
each of the consolidated entities has been
re-evaluated based on the guidance in the
revised standard. All the group entities
have the same functional currency as the
presentation currency for the respective
entity financial statements; and

—  HKAS 24 has affected the identification of
related parties and some other related-
party disclosures.

The adoption of revised HKAS 17 has resulted
in a change in the accounting policy relating to
the reclassification of leasehold land and land
use rights from property, plant and equipment
to operating leases. The up-front prepayments
made for the leasehold land and land use rights
are expensed in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease or
when there is impairment, the impairment is
expensed in the income statement. In prior
years, the leasehold land was accounted for at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment, if any.

The adoption of HKASs 32, 39 and 39
(Amendment) has resulted in a change in the
accounting policy relating to the classification
of financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss and available-for-sale financial assets.
It has also resulted in the recognition of
derivative financial instruments at fair value and
the change in the recognition and measurement
of hedging activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d)

The adoption of HKFRS 2 has resulted in a
change in the accounting policy for share-based
payments. Until 31st March, 2005, the
provision of share options to employees did not
result in an expense in the income statement.
Effective on 1st April, 2005, the Group
expenses the cost of share options in the
income statement. As a transitional provision,
the cost of share options granted after 7th
November 2002 which had not yet vested on
1st January, 2005 was expensed retrospectively
in the income statement of the respective
periods.

All changes in the accounting policies have
been made in accordance with the transitional
provisions in the respective standards. All
standards adopted by the Group require
retrospective application other than:

—  HKAS 39 — does not permit the Group to
recognise, derecognise and measure
financial assets and liabilities in
accordance with this standard on a
retrospective basis. The Group applied the
previous SSAP 24 “Accounting for
investments in securities” to account for
the investments in securities for the
comparative information. The adjustments
required for the accounting differences
between SSAP 24 and HKAS 39, where
appropriate, are determined and
recognised at Tst April, 2005.

—  HKFRS 2 — only retrospective application
for all equity instruments granted after 7th
November, 2002 and not vested at 1st
January, 2005.

— HKFRS 3 — prospectively after the
adoption date.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies 2.

(Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d)

— HKAS-Int 15 — does not require the
recognition of incentives for leases
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beginning before 1st April, 2005.

(i) The adoption of HKFRS 2 resulted in:

mAE-HAMENEEESR;

(i) EA/ETEYBHREEAUS

25REH
As at As at
31st March, 31st March,
2006 2005
R-ZBEAE R-TTRF
=A=+—-B =ZR=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Increase in share-based BROMEEE
compensation P& 15 % 1B 38 hn
reserve/share premium 1,324 631
Decrease in retained profits 1R 8B 3% F R 2 1,324 631
Year ended 31st March,
BE=A=1+—-HLEE
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TR
Increase in employment costs & B B A< 1g A 693 631
Decrease in basic earnings BREXER
per share A2 HKO0.16 cent HKO0.15 cent
Decrease in diluted earnings BER#EEER
per share 282 HKO0.16 cent HKO0.15 cent

(i) The adoption of HKAS 39 resulted in:

(i) RAEBETEREE395%

B
As at As at
31st March, 31st March,
2006 2005
R-ZZEZERE RIZEZEHF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Decrease in retained profits 1R & & Fs 4 — 1,416
Increase in investment reserve 3% & % & 12 0 359 232
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

TS ERAR MIEE

Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EE®FHEME (F)
(Cont’d)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 2.1. REEE (&)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d) RANFTET MG E B R EER
(&)
Year ended 31st March,
BE=RA=1+—-HLHFEE
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET R
Decrease in general and — MR R AT X
administrative expenses A 1,416 —
Increase in basic earnings BREXER
per share ¥ hn HKO0.33 cent —
Increase in diluted earnings BREEER
per share & hn HKO0.33 cent —
(iii) The adoption of HKAS 17 and HK- (i) HAWBBEFTEAE 175
Int 4 resulted in: REBSFTER — 28
48 F -
As at As at
31st March, 31st March,
2006 2005
R-ZZBZEXRF RZZZLHF
=ZA=t—-H Z=ZA=t-—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Increase in leasehold land HELH R L
and land use rights 5 FA R 45 A0 26,413 28,623
Decrease in property, plant ME - BERRE
and equipment DS (26,413) (28,623)

There has been no early adoption by the
Group of the following new standards or
interpretations that are relevant to the
operations of the Group and have been
issued but are not yet effective. The
adoption of such standards or
interpretations will not result in
substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
The adoption of new/revised HKFRS (Cont’d)

HKAS 19 Actuarial Gains and
(Amendment) Losses, Group Plans and Disclosure
HKAS 21 Net Investment in a Foreign
(Amendment) Operation
HKAS 39 Transition and Initial Recognition
(Amendment) of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, The Fair Value
Option, and Cash Flow Hedge
Accounting of Forecast Intragroup
Transactions
HKAS 39 & Financial Guarantee Contracts
HKFRS 4
(Amendments)
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
HKFRS-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement

Contains a Lease

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the
voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.2

2.3

Consolidation (Cont’d)

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by
the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a
particular economic environment that are
subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Cont’d)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(@)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements
of each of the group entities are measured
using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each
balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each
income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
(c)  Group companies (Cont’d)
(iii) all resulting exchange differences
are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities or operations, and of borrowings
and other currency instruments designated as
hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation
is sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Leasehold land and land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold
land and land use rights are accounted for as
operating leases. They are expensed in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over
the periods of the lease, or when there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.6

.

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are expensed in the
income statement during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of other property, plant and
equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings

— Machinery

— Furniture and equipment
— Motor vehicles

25 to 50 years
5 to 10 years
5 to 10 years
5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been
completed and plant and machinery on which
installation work has not been completed. It is
carried at cost which includes construction and
installation expenditures and other direct costs
less any impairment losses. On completion,
construction in progress is transferred to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed
and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount
and are charged to the income statement.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation, are tested annually at
least for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject
to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffer
an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

Financial assets
From 1st April, 2004 to 31st March, 2005:

The Group classifies its investments in
securities, other than subsidiaries, as long-term
investments.

Long-term investments were carried at fair
value. At each balance sheet date, the net
unrealised gains or losses arising from the
changes in fair value of long-term investments
were recognised in the income statement.
Profits or losses on disposal of long-term
investments, representing the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amounts, were recognised in the income
statement as they arised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.8 Financial assets (Cont’d)

From 1st April, 2005 onwards:

The Group classifies its investments in the
following categories: derivative financial
instrument at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates
this designation at every reporting date.

(a)  Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s derivative instruments do not
qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in
the fair value of any derivative
instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised immediately in
the income statement within “other gains/
losses” in the income statement.

(b)  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current
assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months in which case they are
classified as non-current assets.

Loan and receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision
for impairment, if any. The Group assesses
at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired.

(c)  Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends
to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the balance sheet date.
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68 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=

.l g

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(c)  Available-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)
The Group assesses at each balance sheet
date whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of
equity securities classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the securities below its
cost is considered an indicator that the
securities are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the
income statement on equity instruments
are not reversed through the income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs
and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.10 Trade and other receivables

.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables
and other receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivables. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtors, probability
that the debtors will either enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.
The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the
income statement within general and
administrative expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities on the
balance sheet.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.13

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal
of a financial asset or financial liability,
including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by
regulatory agencies and securities exchanges,
and transfer taxes and duties. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. However, deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.14

Deferred income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
and long service leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service
leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

(i)  Retirement benefits

Group companies participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes. A defined contribution plan is a
retirement benefit scheme under which
the Group pays contributions into a
separate entity (insurance company or
trustee/state administered fund), on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior
periods.

The contributions are recognised as
employment costs when they are due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Cont’d)

2.15 Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses. It recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Shared-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan. The fair
value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).
Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. At each balance
sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the income statement,
and a corresponding adjustment to equity
over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.

2.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is more likely than not
that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been

reliably estimated.

Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.16

.

Provisions (Cont’d)

Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale
of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-
added tax, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is
recognised as follows:

(a)  Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has accepted the
products and collectibility of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

(b)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flow discounted
at original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction, installation or
production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of
the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs
are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)

2.19

2.20

Operating leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

The up-front prepayments made for land use
rights are expensed in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
or where there is impairment, the impairment is
expensed in the income statement. In prior
years, land use rights were accounted for at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Contingent assets and liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.

The Group does not recognise liabilities for
financial guarantees at inception, but perform a
liability adequacy test at each reporting date by
comparing its net liability regarding the
financial guarantee with the amount that would
be required if the financial guarantee would
result in a present legal or constructive
obligation. If the liability is less than its present
legal or constructive obligation amount, the
entire difference is recognised in the income
statement immediately. As at 31st March, 2005
and 2006, no additional liability has been
recognised for outstanding financial guarantees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies
(Cont’d)
2.20 Contingent assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

2.21

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group.
Contingent assets are not recognised but are
disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders.

3. Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit
risk, liquidity risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest-rate risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial
risks of the Group and uses derivative financial
instruments to hedge certain foreign exchange
risk exposures. Because of the simplicity of the
financial structure and the current operations of
the Group, no other hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the exposure of various
currencies against Hong Kong Dollars,
including the Chinese Renminbi, Euro and
Singapore Dollars. Such foreign exchange
risk arises
transactions, recognised
liabilities, and net investments in
operations in Mainland China and
Singapore.

from future commercial
assets and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(a)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

To manage foreign exchange risk arising
from certain future commercial
transactions and recognised liabilities, the
Group uses forward contracts transacted
with external financial institutions to
partially hedge against such foreign
exchange risk.

In addition, the conversion of the Chinese
Renminbi into foreign currencies is
subject to the foreign exchange control
rules and regulations promulgated by the
Mainland China government.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying
amount of the trade and bills receivable
included in the balance sheets represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.
Derivative counter parties and cash
transactions are limited to high-credit-
quality financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

The Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its
liquidity requirements.

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from
short-term and long-term borrowings.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
In previous years, the Group made use of
the lower cost Hong Kong Dollar loan
facilities to finance its Chinese Renminbi-
denominated commitments in Mainland
China.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

3.2 Fair value estimation
The nominal value less estimated credit
adjustments of trade receivables and payables
are assumed to approximate their fair values.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the
balance sheet date.

Critical accounting estimates and

judgements

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Useful lives and residual values of property,

plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives, residual values and
related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives and it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives and actual residual values
may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and
therefore depreciation expense in future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Cont’d)

(b)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
leasehold land and land use rights

Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land
and land use rights are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have
been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or market valuations. These
calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required
in the area of asset impairment particularly in
assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred
that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs to sell or net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash
flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group’s financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance
and resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take an impairment charge
to the income statement.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

(e)

.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and variable
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products
of a similar nature. It could change significantly as
a result of changes in customer taste and
competitor actions in response to industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at each
balance sheet date.

Trade, bills and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the
provision for impairment of trade, bills and other
receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment
is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and current market conditions, and
requires the use of judgements and estimates.

Management reassesses the provision at each
balance sheet date.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current and deferred income tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is
made. Deferred income tax assets relating to
certain temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers it is
likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. When the expectations are
different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and income tax charges in the
period in which such estimates are changed.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Cont’d)

)

Employee benefits-share-based payments

The determination of the fair value of share
options granted requires estimates in
determining, among other things, the expected
volatility of the share price, the expected
dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the
life of the option, and the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable as
stated in Note 27. Where the outcome of the
number of options that are exercisable is
different, such difference will impact the
income statement in the subsequent remaining
vesting period of the relevant share options.

5. Segment information

(@)

(b)

Sales for the year represent principally sales of
goods.

Primary reporting format — business segment
The Group is organised into the following main
business segments: (i) Packaging materials,
labels and paper products business, and (ii)
Environmentally friendly products.

Segment assets consist primarily of property,
plant and equipment, leasehold land and land
use rights, inventories, receivables and
operating cash. They exclude available-for-sale
investments and taxation.

Segment liabilities comprise
liabilities. They exclude taxation.

operating

Capital expenditure comprises additions to
leasehold land and land use rights and property,
plant and equipment as set out in Notes 15 and
16, respectively.

Inter-segment sales are conducted on terms
mutually agreed among group companies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

5. Segment information (Cont’d) 5. 27EEH &
(b) Primary reporting format — business segment b) FE2HFNX — XBI2E (&)
(Cont’d)
The segment results for the year ended 31st —EERE=ZA=ZT-HLEFEZS
March, 2006 are as follows: HMEBWOT
2006
Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper Environ-
products mentally
aEME friendly
BER products Total
HEHR BRREM Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TR FHET
Sales HE
Total gross segment sales DEHERE
&5t 865,547 72,322 937,869
Inter-segment DEBHEE (555) (34,626) (35,181)
864,992 37,696 902,688
Operating results reERA
Segment results EE S 72,962 5,032 77,994
Unallocated expenses ROBMEHERE (10,993)
Interest income ME WA 635
Finance costs BhE A (14,024)
Income tax expense FriE®ip & (22,484)
Profit for the year & P9 A T R 31,128
5

o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f&$R R MisE

5. Segment information (Cont’d) 5. 27EEH (&
(b)  Primary reporting format — business segment b) FE2HENX — %XB28 (&)
(Cont’d)
Other segment items included in the income NAZZEZERF=ZA=+—HLEE
statement for the year ended 31st March, 2006 ZHEFRNEMSEEBEAT :
are as follows:
2006
Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper Environ-
products mentally
BEME friendly
B8R products Total
wERD BRREM Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHET FTHET
Depreciation and amortisation 17 8 & # 4 47,092 3,598 50,690
Reversal of impairment of FE W RO E
receivables [e] 3% (4,640) (1,655) (6,295)
Write-down of inventories HHETFERE 1,000 — 1,000

Segment assets and liabilities as at 31st March, BZEZ-Z%
2006 and capital expenditure for the year then E - BEREARBEIWNT :
ended are as follows:

2006
Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper Environ-
products mentally
BEME friendly
BE®R products Total
EEHR RREmM st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FER TER
Segment assets DEEE 741,450 80,479 821,929
Unallocated assets AOEEE 1,333
Total assets BHEE 823,262
Segment liabilities DEEE 430,049 13,983 444,032
Unallocated liabilities RAoBEE 33,809
Total liabilities BnEeE 477,841
Capital expenditure EXREX 103,131 25,170 128,301




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Segment information (Cont’d) 5.

(b)

Primary reporting format — business segment
(Cont’d)
The segment results for the year ended 31st

TS ERAR MIEE

2EEH (&)
by ERXEHKENX — XK 2 ¥ (R

—EZRF=-A=1+—-HIEFEZD

March, 2005 are as follows: HMEBWOT
2005
Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper Environ-
products mentally
BEMB - friendly
BER products Total
i RREM g
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Sales HE
Total gross segment sales DEHERE
&&t 793,895 79,103 872,998
Inter-segment DEEHEE (5,387) (16,824) (22,211)
788,508 62,279 850,787
Operating results reERA
Segment results G E 88,502 8,847 97,349
Unallocated expenses AT ERT (10,641)
Interest income FE WA 226
Finance costs Rl & B A (6,224)
Income tax expense TR (17,906)
Profit for the year FREMLER 62,804
‘ &
i = -
e l’-..j‘ * " - Ty . <
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84 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Primary reporting format — business segment
(Cont'd)
Other segment items included in the income
statement for the year ended 31st March, 2005
are as follows:

Depreciation and amortisation 378 & # 8%
Impairment of receivables EWFEORE

B &
Write-down of inventories FHHEEFEERE

5. Segment information (Cont’d) 5.

TS ERAR MIEE

2EEH (&)
by FRZHENX — XH 28 (&)

WAZZEZERF=A=+—HILLEE
ZWERNEMSBEBEMT :

Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper
products
BEMH
BEK
MEHE
HK$’000
FHET

39,583

5,263
100

2005

Environ-
mentally
friendly
products
RREM
HK$’000
FTiER

3,028

1,400

Total

=
e A

HK$’000
FTiER

42,611

6,663
100

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31st
March, 2005 and capital expenditure for the
year then ended are as follows:

Segment assets DEEE
Unallocated assets AOEEE
Total assets HWEE
Segment liabilities DEEE
Unallocated liabilities AoEERE
Total liabilities was
Capital expenditure BEXREX

BE_ZZERF=A=+—HILEE
ZOEEE BEREABEIWOT

Packaging
materials,
labels and
paper
products
BEME
EBK
WERR
HK$'000
FET

621,980

318,762

93,495

2005

Environ-
mentally
friendly
products
BREM
HK$’000
FET

69,550

19,305

6,858

Total
Ho

HK$’000
FTERT
691,530
5,597

697,127

338,067
32,229

370,296

100,353




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

5. Segment information (Cont’d) 5. 27EEH &
REZHREN — HEFE

(c)

Secondary reporting format — geographical (c)
segments

The Group primarily operates in Hong Kong,

Mainland China and Singapore.

Analysis by geographical location is as follows:

Results S
Sales* fHE
— Hong Kong and — BBRPEKE
Mainland China
— Singapore — FhnK
— United States of America — XEH
— Others — Hfth
Profit attributable to equity FRAQRBEZFAEA
holders of the Company P& A& 35 F
— Hong Kong and — BBRPEKE
Mainland China
— Singapore — FhnK
— United States of America — XH
— Others — Hity
Assets BE
Hong Kong and Mainland BB R PEARE
China
Singapore ik
Capital expenditure ERBEX
Hong Kong and Mainland BB R PEARE
China
Singapore 3 hn 3R
5

o

AEBTELXMBERETE  FH

K BE BT IR o

BB D ZEEDITAOT ¢

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$/000
FE T FET
386,080 364,691
125,819 97,796
291,947 312,521
98,842 75,779
902,688 850,787
7,101 31,177
3,266 8,580
15,655 19,006
5,106 4,041
31,128 62,804
752,095 623,783
71,167 73,344
823,262 697,127
128,253 89,759
48 10,594
128,301 100,353
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment information (Cont’d)

TS ERAR MIEE

5. 2EESR (&)

(c) Secondary reporting format — geographical (c) REZHEX —#hEDE (&)
segments (Cont’d)

Note: i

* Sales by geographical location is determined on the basis *

of the destination of shipments/deliveries of

merchandise.

Other gains — net

Interest income from bank deposits

Net gain on long-term listed
investments

Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and
marketing costs and general and administrative

expenses are analysed as follows:

Employment costs (including
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9)
Operating lease rentals of premises

charged by
— third parties
— related parties (Note 33)
(Reversal of)/Provision for
impairment of receivables
Write-down of inventories
Amortisation of leasehold land and
land use rights
Depreciation of other property,
plant and equipment
— owned assets
— assets held under finance
leases
Net exchange losses
Auditors’ remuneration

HIRE ©

6. Hfth U F R

BB 0 2HE  DREBRETEZEN

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHB T
RITERIE WA 635 226
REBREZW=EFE

— 63

HEVE BERRE
2R EEE 277 756
912 1,045

7. BHEESZAX

RATHBAXZWOMMOT :

2006
HK$’000
FER
BERT (BREESHE)
(H7E9) 172,081
HAMEEERZN 2
HeXTF
— %=F 11,432
— BE AL (MFEE33) 58
FEUWBRFURE (B 5) #1E
(6,295)
FHEEFEERE 1,000
FE L i+ st 50 PR 8
2,752
Hthzx - BMERRE
ZINE
— BEBEEE 43,894
— UM BRNEEZEE
4,044
EREIEFE 1,332

ZEEM & 1,499

EFAHEERS - HERDTHRAR —R

2005
HK$’000
TERT

143,487

10,159

47

6,663
100

534

34,066

8,011
1,733
1,515

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

8. Finance costs 8. BEMAAK
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TR
Interest on bank loans wholly AREFRTHEEZ
repayable within five years BERFLR 13,230 5,444
Interest element of finance leases MBERYZFE 794 780
14,024 6,224
9. Employment costs (including directors’ 9. BENKX(BEESEMHE)
emoluments)
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT TR
Salaries, wages and allowances e ITERZERL 148,782 122,544
Discretionary bonuses BHREZIEA 5,712 4,790
Other employee welfare and ETHMER
benefits 7,739 7,275
Pension costs — defined BRARA — REM-R
contribution plans (i) &) 9,020 7,747
Provision for long service payments REIRKE & 2B %E 135 500
Share-based payments IR0 = B & 693 631
172,081 143,487
‘ -
e "ol ’ ' - L . <
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment costs (including directors’
emoluments) (Cont’d)

Note:

(i)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident fund Schemes
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 and
thereafter contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China
contribute to state-sponsored retirement plans for their
employees. The employees contribute approximately 5%
to 8% of their basic salaries, while the group companies
contribute approximately 8% to 20% of the basic salaries
of their employees and have no further obligations for
the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state-
sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. The group company and its employees
contribute 20% and 13% of the basic salaries of the
employees, respectively. The total of the employer’s and
employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of monthly
earnings of SGD4,500.

During the year ended 31st March, 2006, the aggregate
amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$9,020,000 (2005: HK$7,747,000). As at 31st March,
2006, unutilised forfeited contributions available to
reduce the Group’s employer contributions payable in
future periods amounted to approximately HK$9,000
(2005: HK$90,000).

9.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Directors’ and senior executives’

emoluments

(@)  The remuneration of every Director for the year
ended 31st March, 2006 is set out below:

TS ERAR MIEE

@ =FF

ERF=ZA=T—HILEFEERE

10. EERSRITRAEMS

EcHMEFBEOT

Discretionary

Pension
costs—defined
contribution

Share-based

Salaries and bonuses plans payments
Name of Director Fees  allowances BRRE BHREHE R A3 % A4 Total
Expgs B HeRER ZRA ZEIHEX He @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER THER THER THER THER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu R mEE 138 2,940 325 61 — 3,464
Ms. Yeung Chui BRa+ 88 2,911 273 51 — 3,323
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus FHELE 88 1,056 209 28 143 1,524
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles REBEE 88 1,307 289 35 143 1,862
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Mr. Christopher James Williams Christopher James
Williams % 4 260 — — — — 260
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BIYFHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#XEE 260 — — — — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, JP BHEAT S L 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRELE 150 - - - - 150
1,222 8,214 1,096 175 286 10,993
‘ &
T . . S
} o ’ i ¥
.. ,.ﬁ-‘ ‘- . - - ' oy iy - -
- “. - & L . i v
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Directors’ and senior executives’

emoluments (Cont’d)
The remuneration of every Director for the year
ended 31st March, 2005 is set out below:

10.

TS ERAR MIEE

EERERITBRAEME (B)

CEEZRE=ZA=1+—-HLEEERE
ECvHMeFBEUOT

Pension
costs-defined
Discretionary ~ contribution  Share-hased

Salaries and bonuses plans payments
Name of Director Fees allowances BRRE BAREHE B4 XM Total
- ne HEREH 2R ZEEHR e wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MM 138 2,940 290 48 — 3,416
Ms. Yeung Chui BELt 88 2,895 253 4 - 3,277
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BEERE 88 1,056 168 22 150 1,484
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles REREE 88 1,307 238 25 150 1,808
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Mr. Christopher James Williams Christopher James
Williams 54 260 — — — — 260
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BYEHTES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#XEE 260 — - - — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, JP* BHERTE B 68 — — — — 68
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny* BRIELE" 68 — — — — 68
1,058 8,198 949 136 300 10,641

* Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, JP and Mr. Tam King
Ching, Kenny were appointed on 21st July, 2004.

The share-based payments represent charges to
the income statement of the fair value of the
share options under the share option scheme
measured at the respective grant dates,
regardless of whether the share options are or
will be exercised or not.

No director waived any emolument during the
year.

* BMHEAFHLIRERELER=-Z
ZOFEFLtA-t+-—BREZEE-

ERBRESTEERTE  RHOX
NHERBRERBBRETS &
TEEHABUARFEREERS I
ERAT °

FABEESRWENMNE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Directors’ and senior executives’

11.

emoluments (Cont’d)

(b) The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include
four (2005: four) directors, whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note
10(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable to
the remaining individual were as follows:

Basic salaries and allowances
Discretionary bonuses
Share-based payment

B0 2=

The emoluments of the remaining one (2005:
one) individual fell within the following bands:

Nil — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 —
HK$1,500,000

(c)  No incentive payment for joining the Group or
compensation for loss of office was paid or
payable to any director or the five highest paid
individuals during the year.

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda
until 2016. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
at the rate of 17.5% (2005: 17.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong
Kong. Overseas taxation has been provided by
subsidiaries with operations in Singapore and
Mainland China, based on their estimated assessable
profits at the rates of taxation of 20% and 15% to
33%, respectively.

BEAXRFHFERER
BHEREZIEA

TS ERAR MIEE

10. EERERITBRAEME (B)

0Z 1,000,000 T
1,000,001 T&E
1,500,000 J©

11.

b) AfUERSHFATH OL(ZZFZFH
F0OU)AEXARAES HM2C
HREMRMFE10@W DR - BN

EMEmsTATOT :
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
1,020 595
184 110
18 12
1,222 717

BT (ZTZFRF  —f) AEW

MENFTHEE :
2006 2005
— 1
1 _
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.

Income tax expense (Cont’d)

11.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated

income statement represents:

Current income tax expense
— Hong Kong profits tax
— Opverseas taxation

Deferred taxation (Note 25)

BN S HAE X
— BBRER
— BIBIE

IEIE R TE (B &£ 25)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to
profits of the group companies as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rate
applicable to profits in the
respective countries/places
Effect of
— income not subject to tax
— expenses not deductible
for tax

— deferred tax assets
not recognised

— utilisation of previously
unrecognised deferred
tax assets

Additional provision in respect
of prior years

Taxation charge

TS ERAR MIEE

Fris®ip % ()
REFEWRERPHBROBIEBE

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
17,573 12,735
6,452 4,866
24,025 17,601
(1,541) 305
22,484 17,906

BAKEZBRBEAERFTE 2B IRERA
FEERRAFMERR 2 MEF IR RFE
ZEREEEMER  HHRKRNOT -

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BR i A1 g A 53,612 80,710
RAIGEER HEZ
BAMSHETE
ZFBH 8,917 13,028
A
— E|ARBWA (630) (163)
— FHAB LY
1,567 821
— RBRZELHEEE
2,455 607
— ERUEARABRZIEL
HEEE
(988) (1,547)
BAFERELM
11,163 5,160
MRz BiE 22,484 17,906

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 16.6%

(2005: 16.1%).

MEFHERARER16.6% (ZEZEHE :
16.1%) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.

12.

13.

Income tax expense (Cont’d)

The increase in effective tax rate is caused by a
change in the profitability of the group companies in
respective countries/places and additional provision
in respect of prior years resulting from certain
clarifications made by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department in 2006 in respect of the
deductibility of expenses.

Profit attributable to shareholders

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders
includes a profit of HK$544,000 (2005: a loss of
HK$631,000) dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company.

Dividends

Interim dividends — HK$0.015

(2005: HK$0.015) per share 1.54L (=

TS ERAR MIEE

1. FiEHmx ()

12.

13.

%Hx/%%LSﬂJJ)

Proposed final dividends
— HK$0.015
(2005: HK$0.025) per share

B 5l (=

A final dividend is proposed in respect of the year
ended 31st March, 2006 of HK1.5 cent per share,
amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$6,442,000, is to be proposed at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting to be held on 18th August
2006. These proposed dividends are not reflected as
dividends payable in these financial statements, but
will be reflected as an appropriation of distributable
reserves during the year ended 31st March, 2006.

@Hx,ﬁmz.sﬂm

BRBERZEMREARAEE R RRNFE
B tEZEfEERR 2T ER
BRHBREEFETXHAESNBMERB
EFEBMBE -

f% 3R B A 5 F
BRRELGERFEEEALTRERNE
B 2mMBE544,0008 T (ZEEHE |
#£631,000/8T) °

FHEIRE — iﬂﬁ}%ﬁ%
ZRHE

BIRARHBRE — iﬂ“

)

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

6,442 6,378

ERE

6,442 10,701

12,884 17,079

BE-ZEEXRF=ZA=1t—HLEFEZ#K
RAHBREBER1.58 - REBENE
6,442,000 BRZZEZEXEFNATN
HETRERBFEFASIRESEH  LEH
BHRETEXRILEREE > BS54
BE-ZEXRF=A=+—HLEEEYD
KBz D
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. Earnings per share 14.

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the

profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders ~ RNATEHFH A
of the Company (HK$'000) FEAL &R (F 8 7T)

Weighted average number of ERTERRME
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) FHE (FR)

Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & RERZ R (B1L)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting

the weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares. The Company’s only
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares is share
options. A calculation is performed to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at

fair value (determined as the average daily market

share price of the Company’s shares) based on the

monetary value of the subscription rights attached to

the outstanding share options. The number of shares

calculated as above is compared with the number of

shares that would have been issued assuming the

exercise of the share options.

Profit attributable to equity EEERBERF
holders of the Company used FFRZRERSE A
to determine diluted earnings FEAG &R (F87T)
per share (HK$000)

Weighted average number of ERTEBRME
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) THE (FR)

Adjustments for share options (‘000) B MR # 2 FAE (T K)

Weighted average number of SAESREBERER
ordinary shares for diluted PR A& B IR 0 #E
earnings per share (‘000) FHE (FR)

Diluted earnings per share
(HK cents)

BREERR GBI

TS ERAR MIEE

BRER

B
BREXABMNDEBRFRARATERFTEA
P& 15 75 R BR B 8% 17 H 8 IR 0 7 9 BT

It

;_ o

2006 2005
31,128 62,804
428,426 425,175
7.27 14.77

e
EREBERBNIDBERAEESHEE D
EEREESERARCHITERRMNETY
B - AQFE-—A#HEFELIEBERS
BBIRAE o BB MR T 3R e AR AT {50 BB AR FT Y
TRBECEREE  TRATEBAR
ARNFHEATEEE) WBZROH
B blistEcROHE SEBRTER
BEMEEHRT2ROBBLR -

2006 2005
31,128 62,804
428,426 425,175
467 1,136
428,893 426,311
7.26 14.73

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Leasehold land and land use rights

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use
rights represent prepaid operating lease payments

TS ERAR MIEE

15. HET MR Tt FEHRAE
AEBNEHET Rt FERENERE
ENESEHEREREBETE ST

and their net book amounts are analysed as follows: T
Consolidated
wE
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$000
FTER FTET
In Hong Kong held on: REBEE
Leases of between 10 to 50 years N F10E50F 2HH 3,458 3,546
In Mainland China held on: RPBKERE
Land use rights of between N FI0FES0F 2L it
10 to 50 years £ AR 22,955 25,077
26,413 28,623
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Beginning of the year F9 28,623 18,717
Additions nE — 10,440
Amortisation 1 5 (2,752) (534)
Translation adjustments ENAE 542 —
End of the year FR 26,413 28,623

The 2005 comparative figures are stated after
reflecting the adjustment described in Note 2.1(iii).

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments of
HK$88,000 (2005: HK$156,000) has been expensed
in cost of sales, and HK$2,664,000 (2005:
HK$378,000) has been expensed in general and
administrative expenses.

At 31st March, 2006, leasehold land with a net book
amount of approximately HK$2,166,000 (2005:
HK$2,223,000) was mortgaged as collateral for the
Group’s banking facilities (Note 32).

—EERTHRUTERMMEL(DFTRR 2
EER

FENEEHEE 2 #EH88,0008 T (ZEERHF
156,000 T ) BHEHEHERLTE X - K
2,664,000/ T (ZEFHF : 378,000 7Tt) B
FIE—MRITHERX -

RZBEERFEFZA=Z+—HB REFEY
2,166,000 T (ZZEZHEF : 2,223,000/ 7T) Z
HELHRERAEBEEREEZHBIRT (M
32) o

o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. Property, plant and equipment

At Tst April, 2004
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March,
2005

Opening net book amount

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2005

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March,
2006

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2006

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

The 2005 comparative figures are stated after
reflecting the adjustment described in Note 2.1(iii).

R-FEMEMA-A

RN
2HE

REFEE

BZ2-Z2T1H
ZA=+-BLEFE

FNREFE

nE
HE
e
B R

FRREEE

R-Z2LF
ZR=+-8H

R
2HE

REFEE

HE-ZEARF
ZAZT-HLEE

FAREFE

nE
e
HE
E SRR

FREMFE

R-22
=R=
CE

B3t E

REFE

o
/N

+

3
—H

TS ERAR MIEE

16. ¥  BERRKRE

Consolidated

)
Furniture and Motor Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BT BE HKARRE BB EEIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiER TER TiER TiER TiER
85,985 405,872 33,404 11,417 2,215 538,893
(10,876) (209,204) (23,994) (7,754) — (251,828)
75,109 196,668 9,410 3,663 2,215 287,065
75,109 196,668 9,410 3,663 2,215 287,065
— 66,616 2,311 1,128 19,858 89,913
(1,345) (82) (1) (99) — (1,527)
(1,800) (36,051) (3,093) (1,133) — (42,077)
— 348 1 6 — 355
71,964 227,499 8,628 3,565 22,073 333,729
84,640 465,491 35,665 11,785 22,073 619,654
(12,676) (237,992) (27,037) (8,220) — (285,925)
71,964 227,499 8,628 3,565 22,073 333,729
71,964 227,499 8,628 3,565 22,073 333,729
32,540 50,699 13,191 1,170 30,701 128,301
(3,237) (39,023) (4,444) (1,234) — (47,938)
— (23) 7) (8) — (38)
981 2,721 144 30 974 4,850
102,248 241,873 17,512 3,523 53,748 418,904
118,271 519,471 49,063 12,939 53,748 753,492
(16,023) (277,598) (31,551) (9,416) — (334,588)
102,248 241,873 17,512 3,523 53,748 418,904

RBRZH

o

—EERFHREAFE RBMEE2.1GI)AT

-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Depreciation expense recognised in the income
statements is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales HERR
Selling and marketing costs HERDHEA
General and administrative —BRTHEAX

expenses

Construction in progress mainly represents
factories and office buildings under
construction in Mainland China.

At 31st March, 2006, buildings with a net book
value of approximately HK$2,094,000 (2005:
HK$3,978,000) were mortgaged as collateral
for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 32).

Finance leases
Certain property, plant and equipment are held
under finance leases. Details of these assets are:

Cost B A

Less: Accumulated depreciation B @ BFHiTE
Net book value REFEE
Depreciation for the year TAEEFRE

TS ERAR MIEE

16. V¥ - BMENRE (B)
(@ REZEFEIZFEBRL S0

T
For the year ended
31st March
BE=A=1+—-HLEE

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TR
44,577 40,241
317 130
3,044 1,706
47,938 42,077

(b) 7EFR 12 B 1 oh B A B FRER P
BERBAZESE -

RZBEEXRFEZAZ=Z+—H8 ' REF
E#2,094,0008 T (ZZEZFHF
3,978,000 7t) 2 F AEAREBEE
AEEZH BT (MaE32) -

(o MBERY
BT BERKBDEMBRY
FE BHEEZHBAOT

Consolidated

o)
Machinery Motor vehicles Total
G AE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET TR
38,323 1,173 39,496
(11,319) (494) (11,813)
27,004 679 27,683
3,809 235 4,044
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98 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

17. Available-for-sale investments/Long-term

investments

Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost
Adjustment to quoted market value

Quoted market value

Beginning of the year

Additions

Revaluation surplus charged
to equity (Note 28)

Adjustment to quoted market value
recognised in income statement

End of the year

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in

subsidiaries consisted of:

Unlisted shares
Due from subsidiaries

Less: Accumulated impairment
losses

The outstanding balances with subsidiaries are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and not repayable on

demand.

TS ERAR MIEE

17. AHEZRE RERKRE

Consolidated

we
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T F#B T
ERAEETRG  ERARE 821 736
HAEBEEZMEGEE 359 232
miZEE 1,180 968
Consolidated
wme
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH T
F1 968 905
320 85 —
FFAREREZRZ 2
HEZE e (M aE28) 127 —
RBBRPER TS
BEEFAE — 63
FR 1,180 968
18. RHBARZRE
EARARBEEEERA  RBLATZR
BEHE
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FB T
FEmERMH 91,449 91,449
AL NG E 166,107 165,161
257,556 256,610
W BRUBERE
(12,622) (13,859)
244,934 242,751

MDAz REENIA
KBRS EE -

RERE > RE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

18.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st

March, 2006 were:

Name of company

ACEE

Starlite Cultural
Communications
Limited

EXXLEERBRDA

Starlite International
Limited

Starlite International
(Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite Printers Holdings
Cook Islands Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East)

Pte. Ltd.

Starlite Printers (Malaysia)

Sdn. Bhd.

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual

Communication Limited

EXHREREERAT

Place of
incorporation
and operations
o i AR 32
REXBE

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

Cook Islands
RRES

Singapore

0 3K

Malaysia
BRAE =

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

Hong Kong
B

Issued and
fully paid
share capital
BBRITR
BRRA

HK$2
2B T

US$1
127

US$2
YE

US$200
200% T
$$8,759,396

8,759,396
AN 7T

Rm1,000,000
1,000,0005 7T

US$20,000
20,0003 Tt

HK$2,000,000
2,000,00078 Tt

o

Directly

TS ERAR MIEE

Percentage of equity
interest held
P46 B A

B
Indirectly
BEE e %

100% —

100% —

100% —

100% —

100% —

100% —

50% 50%

— 100%

RMBAR2®RE (&)
R-ZBEXRE=ZA=+—RH0 > TEHEL
ANERMT :

Principal activities

FREK

Inactive

(EE R S

Inactive

(EE RS

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of
paper products
and investment
holding

L HRLED R 2 4
EERREER

Inactive

(ERREES

Investment holding

REER

Production and
distribution of
licensed products

EERDHEEF

KeEm

99
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of company

ACEE

Star Union Limited

ERERAF

Starlite Consumer
Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment
(Holdings) Limited

Starlite International
Development Limited

Starlite International
Marketing Services
Limited

Starlite Label Company
Limited
EXBEBRAOF

Starlite Laser Graphics
Limited
EEBEHICERAT

Place of
incorporation
and operations
o i AR 32
REXBE

Hong Kong/

Mainland China

RVl "N

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

18

Issued and
fully paid
share capital
BBRITR
BRRA

HK$2
2B T

US$1
EY

US$1
127

US$1
127

US$1
127

HK$950,000
ordinary
950,000/ 7T
EBRHD
HK$50,000
non-voting
deferred (ii)
50,0007 7T
BRERE
iR HEBR 42 (i)

HK$3,230,000
ordinary
3,230,00078 Tt
EBER D
HK$170,000
non-voting
deferred (ii)
170,000 7T
BRERE
iR HEBR 43 (i)

TS ERAR MIEE

Percentage of equity
interest held
P46 B A
BAK
Directly Indirectly

EE e %

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

. RBRBRARZRE (&)

Principal activities

FREK

Property holding
SR RV S

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Procurement agency

REBRERE

Procurement agency

REBRERE

Inactive

(EE R S

Provision of design
and colour
separation services

RERETRD BRE



Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of company

ACEE

Starlite Management
Services Limited

Starlite Packaging
Technology

Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development
(China) Limited

EXBRE (FE)ARQH

Starlite Paper Products

Limited
EERERBROF

Starlite Printers Limited

EXERIBRAF

Starlite Printers HK

Holdings (BVI) Limited

Place of
incorporation
and operations
o i AR 32
REXBE

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong/
Mainland China
BB/
B K BE

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

18. RMIB AR ZKRE (&)

Issued and
fully paid
share capital
BBRITR
BRRA

HK$200
20038 7T

US$1
127

HK$200
20038 7T

HK$1,738,000
ordinary
1,738,000 7T
EBRHM
HK$262,000
non-voting
deferred (ii)
262,000/ 7T
BRERE
iR HEBR 47 (i)

HK$2,700,000
ordinary
2,700,00078 Tt
EBERHM
HK$2,300,000
non-voting
deferred (ii)
2,300,00078 7T
BRERE
iR HE IR 47 (i)

US$1
127

o

Directly

Percentage of equity
interest held
P 45 B 78
BAK
Indirectly
EE e %

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

FREK

Provision of
management
services

REEERE

Holding of trade and
service marks

BREZRREBE

Trading of paper
products

RERMES

Production of paper
products

BmEE

Printing and trading
of packaging
materials

BEMBEHRRES

Investment holding

REER

101
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of company

ACEE

Starlite Printers, Inc.

Starlite Printers (China)

Limited
EXER (FE)
BRAFE

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen)

Co., Ltd. (i)
ENXENR CRYN
AR A )

Starlite Printers (Suzhou)

Co., Ltd. (i)
ESENRI (B M)
R A )

Starlite Productions Limited

EXRERRAT

Starlite Productions (BVI)

Limited

Starlite Productions
(Holdings) Limited

Shenzhen Xiangguangmei

Gifts Co., Ltd. (i)
FINEKXERR
BRAF)

Place of
incorporation
and operations
o i AR 32
REXBE

United States of
America

E3E

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

Mainland China
R K B

Mainland China
=N

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

KBEBERES

Mainland China
=N

18.

Issued and
fully paid
share capital
BBRITR
BRRA

US$1
127

Us$100
100% T

US$8,000,000
8,000,0003 Tt

US$15,000,000
15,000,000% 7T

HK$3,000,000
3,000,000 7T

US$256,420
256,420% T

US$1
127

RMB4,200,000
4,200,000 A R #&

TS ERAR MIEE

RBBERAAZ2RE (F)

Percentage of equity
interest held

Fir 4 IR 4 Principal activities
Bol TEXH
Directly Indirectly
EE e %
— 100% Inactive
(EE R S
— 100%  Investment holding
RELZR
— 100%  Printing of packaging

materials and
production of
paper products
BEMBER K
MmEE
— 100%  Printing of packaging
materials and
production of
paper products
BEMBER K
MmEE

— 100% Inactive

(EE JEES

— 100%  Investment holding

REER

— 100%  Investment holding

REER

— 90% Inactive

(EE JaES



Name of company

ACEE

Guangzhou Starlite
Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited (i)

M 2 SRR O
BRAF)

Greenworks International
Limited
BEIREBRERLA

Shaoguan Fortune
Creative Industries
Company Limited (i)

HENZASTXE
BRAF)

Starlite Enterprises
(Shanghai) Inc.
BEEE (L8 BRLA

Notes:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Place of
incorporation
and operations
o i AR 32
REXBE

Mainland China
=N

Hong Kong
B

Mainland China
=N

Mainland China
R K B

TS ERAR MIEE

18. RMIB AR ZKRE (&)

Issued and

fully paid Percentage of equity

share capital interest held

BERTR P4k IR R

BERAE BO
Directly Indirectly

HE ] &

US$6,000,000 — 100%

6,000,0003 Tt

HK$2 — 100%

28T

US$2,990,000 — 100%

2,990,0003 Tt

— — 100%

BfsE -

Principal activities

FREK

Production of
environmentally
friendly and other
paper products

TERRRAMEKRE
Em

Investment holding
and trading of
environmentally
friendly and other
paper products

REZRRERK
At EERES

Inactive

(EEREES

Inactive

(EE S S

(i)

All subsidiaries incorporated in Mainland China, except
for Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly Center,
Limited and Shenzhen Xiangguangmei Gifts Co., Ltd., are
wholly foreign owned companies to be operated for 50
years up to 2042 to 2053. Guangzhou Starlite
Environmental Friendly Center, Limited is a contractual
joint venture established in Mainland China to be
operated for 50 years up to 2044. Under the joint
venture agreement, the joint venture partner is entitled to
a pre-determined fee and is not entitled to share any
profit or required to bear any loss of the joint venture.
Shenzhen Xiangguangmei Gifts Co., Ltd. is an equity
joint venture established in Mainland China to be
operated for 20 years up to 2017.

o

BREMNEXARRPOERATDRRIIELE
BRABRATIN - F£ B KBERK 22 2B
BARYANELZERE  KEFEHAT+
FHOHRZN_-_FEZE-_TR=FIt - EM
EXBRRPOERDADEFRBEKRER L2
EEEELE  KEFHA+E HEEZT
MIUERLE - REEGEHRE SEBETE
B—SETERZRE  HEEIHEED
E¥CAMBAREETMER - RINEXE
RRERABADEFEARERL2EELE
¥ KEFH_+F HEE-ZT—tF-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

19.

Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the
Group. These shares have no voting rights, are not
entitled to dividends unless the net profit of the relevant
company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 and are not
entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the
relevant company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue
at any time during the year ended 31st March, 2006.

Inventories

Raw materials R
Work-in-progress T
Finished goods H K m

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$699,549,000 (2005: HK$629,484,000).

During the ended 31st March, 2006, the Group
recorded a write-down of inventories of
HK$1,000,000 (2005: HK$100,000), which was
included in cost of sales.

The carrying amount of inventories that was pledged
as security for trust receipts bank loan arrangements
amounted to approximately HK$13,234,000 (2005:
HK$6,109,000) as at 31st March, 2006 (see Note 32).

18.

19.

TS ERAR MIEE

REBARZKRE (&)
B ()

(i) HEEREZRBETEROUFAREEEES -
HERDLBRERE  RIEBBEAR ZAAF
#83850,000,000,000/& 5T » BRIFHE AERE
ZERE MEBARERN  TEEZE
ALK BRIFEBEATNRZBERBRED
2 5 Tk 3E £ 50,000,000,00078 TT ©

LEREMBARARBE-S2Z A F=A
ZS+-BLEFEREMSEHYEESRTZ
BEER -

FE
Consolidated
we

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHE T FHET

38,176 39,526

29,975 17,340

16,985 15,831

85,136 72,697
FEMRAE 699,549,000 T (ZEEH

F 1 629,484,000/ ) BEBEXILH A
SHERAH o

R-ZBERFE=ZA=1+—HLEEER &K
SEESEHEFTEEE1,000,0008E T (=
ZERFE 100,00087T) @ LBEEIA
SHERAH o

R-ZBEEANE=ZA=Z+—HB REHEY
A 13,234,000 T (Z EZF 1 &
6,109,000 T) 2 F EREFTLNIER T
ERTHEAKT (RHE32) o



20. Trade and bills receivable

The Group grants to its customers credit terms
generally ranging from 30 to 120 days.

The aging analysis of trade and bills receivable is as
follows:

0 to 90 days 0E 90K

91 to 180 days 91E 180K
181 to 365 days 181&365XK
Over 365 days #iB 365K

Less: Provision for impairment
of receivables

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable
approximate their fair values.

Other than Hong Kong dollars which is the Group’s
functional currency, trade and bills receivable is also
denominated in US dollars, Renminbi and Singapore
dollars.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect
to trade and bills receivable, as the Group has a large
number of customers, internationally dispersed.

The Group has recognised a reversal of
HK$6,295,000 (2005: provision of HK$6,663,000)
for the impairment of its trade and bills receivable,
which has been included in general and
administrative expenses in the income statement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.

o

TS ERAR MIEE

ESRWERFARERE
EEATHEEEEHR —MKBI0KEI20
ARE o

EZRURARZBEZREDIAOT

Consolidated

B REUCBR R R IR AR IR

ma
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
170,762 130,348
6,336 14,484
2,897 5,020
646 3,409
180,641 153,261
(3,888) (11,597)
176,753 141,664
BHREZEAREENREAENESNAE

A o

BB (AKEZEER) I BESE
WERR R RE R AETT ~ AR R MK

et
o

TTHEE

HRASENEFI2BRTEERR - E5
RUERRRBIEFES P 2ER -

AEBRIALEZIERERRE ZERERD
6,2950008 T (Z ZE2Z H F : B
6,663,000 7T) » ZEE EBES I AWK
HERPZ-METHRAX -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8 3R Kz Kz

21. Cash and cash equivalents/Pledged bank 21. RERBREZHE SHEARTER

deposits
Consolidated Company
RE A
2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET TET FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITERREZ 76,958 79,926 71 407
Short-term bank deposits EHRTEX 12,854 — — —
Pledged bank deposits EIEFRITER — 12,306 — —

89,812 92,232 71 407
The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits FHRTERRECEFRITERZERF
and pledged bank deposits was 2.90% per annum ZHFE200BE(ZEZHF : £80.32
(2005: 0.32% per annum); these deposits have an E)  BWEEFERFHIPEAMEAR(ZF
average maturity of two months (2005: three months). EHRF=@AB) -
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank RERRESEREABITERIDELT
deposits were denominated in the following E¥IIE :
currencies:

Consolidated Company
RE A
2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT FHBT THET FET
Hong Kong Dollars BT 20,268 43,739 71 407
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) AR 12,941 16,815 — —
US Dollars P 15,786 17,988 — —
Euro BT 26,948 437 — —
Singapore Dollars 37 003K 7T 13,574 12,934 — —
Others HAt 295 319 — —

89,812 92,232 71 407
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated AEBUARBIEZ2RERAESEEY
in RMB are deposited with banks in Mainland China. FHRARBREZRIT - BARBBRESR
The conversion of these RMB denominated balances S R W A B K Bk 2B 32 R B A b IBURT B
into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds HEHmZIMEEFRRRGIESE -

out of Mainland China is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the Mainland
China Government.

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8 3R Kz Kz

21. Cash and cash equivalents/Pledged bank 21. RERBREZHE SHEARTER

deposits (Cont’d) (&)
Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for BeReaRkPHEERRBRITELERE
purposes of the cash flow statements:
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Cash and cash equivalents BHehBELE 89,812 79,926
Bank overdrafts RITEX (505) (1,742)
89,307 78,184
22. Borrowings 22. 1BE&
Consolidated
&=a
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERX FET
Non-current JE BN HR
Long-term bank loan REBRITER 135,135 60,510
Current B HA
Current portion of long-term REBRTER - BHRH
bank loans 59,100 38,935
Short-term bank loan EHIRITER 46,824 45,101
Trust receipts import bank loans ERRBERNRITER 13,234 6,109
Bank overdrafts RITEX 505 1,742
119,663 91,887
254,798 152,397
The maturity of borrowings is as follows: BESTHAWT :
Consolidated
e
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Within 1 year EFER 119,663 91,887
Between 1 and 2 years NFEEE=—F 59,100 25,850
Between 2 and 5 years NF-ZRE 76,035 34,660
254,798 152,397

- . 4 g ¥y
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Borrowings (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”)
US Dollars

Singapore Dollars

BT

AR

ESv

#IN3R% TT

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the balance

sheet date were as follows:

Bank overdrafts BITEX
Trust receipts import BB ER
bank loans RITER

Finance lease B
Short-term bank loan BHRTEXN
Long-term bank loan REBRITEXN

HK$
BT
6.75%
6.16%
3.39%

5.41%
5.24%

RMB
AR

5.70%

The carrying amounts of all bank borrowings

approximate their fair value.

22. 16 & (&)

TS ERAR MIEE

RITEEZRABEDRATERIIE :

Consolidated

s5a
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
217,387 107,171
33,810 39,492
3,228 1,886
373 3,848
254,798 152,397
REEBZ2EBERERNZNOT ¢
2005
HKS  RMB  US$ 5§
BT ARE ExHME T
— - — 7.25%
4.50% — 4.58% —
3.30% — — 3.25%
275%  5.31% — 675%
2.37% — — —

BEZREERAQAFERES

2006
Us$ S$
EnHMKT

—  7.25%
6.18% —

—  5.83%
: |

-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. Finance lease obligations

Total minimum lease payments
under finance leases
— not exceeding one year
— more than one year and not
exceeding two years
— more than two years and not
exceeding five years

Less: Future finance charges

Analysed as —

The present value of obligations
under finance leases
— not exceeding one year
— more than one year and not
exceeding two years
— more than two years and not
exceeding five years

Less: Amounts payable within
one year included under
current liabilities

23. MBRHEK

TS ERAR MIEE

Consolidated

we
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH& T
MRZARKEZE
— THEBEF 8,174 9,855
— BBEFEFEBWEF
2,631 5,976
— BEMEEBIBBRESF
2,767 545
13,572 16,376
W KRR KE A (825) (541)
12,747 15,835
AT
RN EKWEE
— THEBEF 7,655 9,455
— BBEFEFEBWEF
2,428 5,837
— BEMEEBIBBRESF
2,664 543
12,747 15,835
WA ARBEBZEER
HBEBERE
(7,655) (9,455)
5,092 6,380
by ."I - .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. Trade and bills payable
The aging analysis of trade and bills payable is as

follows:

0 to 90 days 0Z90XK

91 to 180 days 91E 180K
181 to 365 days 181E 365K
Over 365 days B 365K

Other than Hong Kong Dollars which is the Group’s
functional currency, trade and bills payable is also
denominated in US dollars, Renminbi, Japanese Yen,
Singapore dollars and Euro.

25. Deferred income tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against tax liabilities and when the deferred
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset
amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled BR12E B BEND

24.

25.

after 12 months ELEFMEHRERE

Movements in net deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

TS ERAR MIEE

EZENRARERE
ESENEARZERRAINAOT -

Consolidated

me
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT TET
131,526 114,339
2,580 6,862
388 912
— 27
134,494 122,140

BB (BNASE 2 E%) I - ESE
NEARRBFRUET - AR¥ - HE -
MMEARBTEE -

ELEFEH
EERLRFABNTRATEABREELEE
BERBHEEEEMRIKE  REEMEH
BRE—-VBEE MELERSHEER
EENTEMRESE  EAEENTEN
T

Consolidated

ma
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FTER
15,794 17,301

EEREREFEZEHFHEOT ¢

Consolidated

)

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FET

Beginning of the year F1 17,301 16,948
Deferred taxation (credited)/charged R Uz & (5t A) /IR =z

to income statement (Note 11) EREFE (FEE11) (1,541) 305

Translation adjustment ENAR 34 48

End of the year FR 15,794 17,301

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

25. Deferred income tax (Cont’d) 25. IEERBH (F&)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss RERNEENREABRIBELEFRERE
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the ERIANER HUBETUREBRRERY
related tax benefit through future profits is probable. BAEEBREBESRNBERR - A
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of SEYERIAELEMEREED
approximately HK$27,477,000 (2005: HK$28,747,000), 27,477,000 7T (ZBERE : 28,747,000
in respect of the tax effect of cumulative tax losses BIt) » HH5,991,000/8 5t 2 BB IEE
(subject to agreement by relevant tax authorities) BeHREZE(ZEZTHF 1 5,520,000
amounting to HK$5,991,000 (2005: HK$5,520,000) T AINZEREFEBENERTRA (B
that can be carried forward against future taxable TEEBBHRBEER) - BEBBIOH
income. Tax losses amounted to approximately 24,553,000 T (ZEZHF © 22,494,000
HK$24,553,000 (2005: HK$22,494,000) will be BL)BRZE——FEm HRETUER
expired up to 2011, while the remaining balance can HEHE -
be carried forward indefinitely.
The movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) prior EEHBEE (BRE) 229 (HE -8
to offsetting of balances within the same entity and BREBLE ZEHREEAN OT ¢
same taxation jurisdiction is as follows:
Deferred tax assets: EEREBEEE
Tax losses Others Total
HEEE Hitr fst
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL FER TEL TR TEL
Beginning of the year £1 — - 1,856 1,356 1,856 1,356
Credited/(Charged) to Rz &S
income statement A/ (GNR) 258 — (1,396) 496 (1,138) 496
Translation adjustment EXRE — — (2) 4 (2) 4
End of the year F8 258 — 458 1,856 716 1,856
Deferred tax liabilities: BEEREER
Accelerated taxation
depreciation
IEB E T E
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THERT
Beginning of the year F1 19,157 18,304
(Credited)/Charged to R EFR P (GEA) Mk
income statement (2,679) 801
Translation adjustment ENAE 32 52
End of the year FH 16,510 19,157

111
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.

27.

TS ERAR MIEE

Share capital 26. RZ&
2006 2005
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BB [EIRE RHHE H{E
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
TR TER TR THER
Authorised — EERAK —
Ordinary shares of BREME0IEBR
HK$0.1 each ZEBR 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid — ERTRHRE —
Ordinary shares of BREME0IETRT
HK$0.1 each: ZEBR
Beginning of the year ) 425,175 42,517 425,175 42,517
Issue of shares upon HTEEREMRT
exercise of share options Z R % 4,301 430 — —
End of the year R 429,476 42,947 425,175 42,517
During the year ended 31st March, 2006, certain BE-EZARE=-ZA=1+t—HLEEERNE
employee share options were exercised to subscribe EITHEEMERERE4301,000 (=F
for 4,301,000 shares (2005 : Nil) in the Company at ERF  EB)ARARGD  BREYAE
an aggregate consideration of approximately 3,270,000 T (ZZEZHF : &) o
HK$3,270,000 (2005 : Nil).
Employee share options 27. EESERE

Effective from September 2002, the Company has
adopted a new employee share options scheme (the
“New Share Options Scheme”) to replace the old
employee share options scheme adopted in 1993 (the
“Old Share Options Scheme”). Under the New Share
Options Scheme, the Company may grant options to
employees (including executive directors of the
Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be
determined by the Company’s board of directors and
shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant of the options,
(ii) an average closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each. All options granted
under the Old Share Options Scheme will continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of
the Old Share Options Scheme.

BE-ZZ-_FNAE FRACKMAHE
EERESE ([HTE]) BURE-R AN
SERMcEREBRESS (TER
2  REFFERXQRATHET (B
ARBZHATES) RHBRENZBARLQ
ARG MARTZROSKRSZSH/ELF
TREBRITRMZ30%  BFRFERTRE
BREMBTZRD -ABEHESSE
B ETAAERATZEZESE @ ()R
BHAMAQRRARDZWHE S (VAQF
BRORBERHAPARELRA 2RH
FHEHE S RGiVARBRD 2EE (B
BROBIT) - RIBEFTE 2K L
HEFENRE CBREDEEERRT
REERRERETE -

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.

Employee share options (Cont’d)
Movements of employee share options during the
year ended 31st March, 2006 were:

Date of grant
REAM

Old Share Option Scheme
ERREE

10th September, 1997

—ANtERRTH

New Share Option Scheme

R A

10th January, 2003

—Z2E2=%£-AtH

17th January, 2003

—E2R=F-Af<tA

6th February, 2004

19th February, 2004

—EEME-ATAA

29th December, 2004

—ZEEME+=A=1+ A

28th October, 2005

—ERRETAZTNA

Exercise period

THEERH

11th March, 1998 to
9th September, 2007
-AANE=ZA+—-HZE
ZEZLENANA

10th July, 2003 to

9th January, 2006
—EE=FtAt+HE

ZEZRE-ANA
17th July, 2003 to

16th January, 2006
—ZE=FtAt++tAHZE

ZEZRE-ATRH
6th August, 2004 to

5th February, 2007
—EEMFNRARBE

“ZEZtLE-RAA
19th August, 2004 to

18th February, 2007
—EZEMFENBTAAE

“EELF-B+N\H
29th June, 2005 to

28th December, 2007
“EZREARAZTAEE

“EELF+ZA=tNAH
29th April, 2006 to

27th October, 2007
“EZREMAZTARE

“EELETAST LA

Ei-—"’“ s

Po— 'k - ! v
il il l!-:“ —-'i“"w;g_ | o

BA RS SRR MY & 113
27. BEBKE (&)
BE-ZZEARE=ZA=+—-HLEERZ
BEEBRESBUT :
Number of shares
RO #E
Subscription Granted Exercised Lapsed
price  Beginning during during during
per share of year the year the year the year  End of year
BRARE 9 FREWH FRTR FRAX R
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
TR T’ TR’ T’ TR
HK$0.69 4,214 — (700) — 3,514
0.69%8 7T
HK$0.53 200 — (80) (120) —
0.53 7T
HK$0.57 500 — (500) — —
0.57/ 7T
HK$0.93 4,200 — (837) — 3,363
0.93 7T
HK$1.07 6,900 — — — 6,900
1.078 7T
HK$0.77 7,800 — (2,184) — 5,616
0.77 7T
HK$0.72 — 482 — — 482
0.72& 7T
23,814 482 (4,301) (120) 19,875
. ot . . . .
-l 't B ¥ ™

*
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27. Employee share options (Cont’d)

The weighted average fair value of options granted
on 29th December, 2004 and not yet vested on 1st
January, 2005 and options granted on 28th October
2005 determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model was HK$0.16 per share option, totalling
approximately HK$1,324,000, of which
approximately HK$631,000 and HK$693,000 were
charged to the income statement for the years ended
31st March, 2005 and 2006, respectively, as
employment costs. The significant inputs into the
model include the following data and assumptions:
Share price at the HK$0.77
grant date
Exercise price
Expected volatility of the
Company’s share
Average option life
Expected dividend yield
Average risk-free
interest rate
Early exercise assumption

HK$0.77/HK$0.72
40% per annum

2.6 years
5.5% per annum
1.37% per annum

Option holders will
exercise their options
when the share price is
at least 190% of the
exercise price.

The volatility rate of the share price of the Company
was determined based on the movement of the share
prices during the period from October 1995 to
October 2005 and the volatility rates of selected
comparators.

The Company considers that certain subjectivity and
uncertainty might exist in the above value of options
as such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and given the limitations of the Binomial
Model.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TS ERAR MIEE

. BEERBKRE (E)

R-EENF+-_A=-t+HAREMEE
R-_EEREF-—A—HEARBZBERE
FR-ZZEZRFTAZTNBREHZER
Ems HATELK-_EAHECEER
HMEEAERO.165BTT  &3%41,324,000
BT HP4631,0008 7T K& #693,00058
TERHRBE-_ZEERF=RA=+—H
LtFERBE-ZEEAF=ZA=+—H1E
FEZWBERANTAEIRAL - RiE
ZEBECFTEHERBRREE

REERBZRHG 0.778 7T

B

REBEE 0.7787L0.728 T
FEHA R 12 R 1R FEA40%

FHEREEH 2.6
FEHRERE R FE55%

O b= FE1.37%

RERBERR EREEZRRAR
BE2190% Zi2
BOEBRE

PR ERREZRBIORE-ANEF+
AREZZZRF+TAMBZROEREH
BRAHFRETILRLABD 22T ABE
B o

MR EFEEEE TRRE ZEARE
EERAFE-—ERS  A2aRR/ LI
BREZ2AVEFE-—EXTEMERTHAM
/|\_&L °

o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8 3R Kz Kz

28. Reserves

Movements were:

Consolidated

As at 31st March, 2004

Profit attributable to shareholders

Employee share option scheme
— Value of employee services

Dividends paid

Translation adjustments

As at 31st March, 2005
As at Tst April, 2005,
as previously reported

Employee share option scheme
— Value of employee services

As at st April, 2005, as restated

Opening adjustment for
adoption of HKAS32 & 39

As at Tst April, 2005 after
opening adjustment

Fair value gains

= A
R-ZBEME=ZA=1-
RERSEAEEER
EEBRETE

— EERBEHE
THRHKRE

EXRE

RZEZRFE=A=1-

R-ZBREFMA-R
RERZR
EEBRETE

— EERBEE

R-BZREMA-H -
EY

RgEdestEa
$32R39E 2 BAE

R-ZZRRFMA-A
SEHANBR AR

APEEWE

— Available-for-sale financial assets ~— A HESREE

Translation adjustments

Net income recognised
directly in equity
Profit attributable to shareholders

Total recognised income
for the year

Dividends paid
Employee share options scheme
— Value of employee services
— Issue of shares upon exercise
of employee share options

As at 31st March, 2006

Representing:
2006 dividend proposed
Others

EXBE

BEERERDEIN
DON-3:
REREAREER

FROEILRA

EfNRE
EEBRETE
—EERBEE
—TRESBRE
TR G

RZZEERE=ZA=1-
&

BK-ZTRERE
Hitr

28. s

BHoHEBUT
Share-based Cumulative
Share Capital compensati Investment translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve  adjustments profits Total
Bt £
BROEE  EXRE  HEeRE  RERE  EXEE REEA By
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TiER TR TR TR TR TiEx
A 100,968 1,169 — — (2,609) 137,134 236,662
— — — — — 62,804 62,804
— — 631 — — — 631
— — — — — (14,881) (14,881)
— — — — (902) — (902)
A 100,968 1,169 631 — (3,511) 185,057 284,314
100,968 1,169 — — (3,511) 185,688 284,314
— — 631 — — (631) —
100,968 1,169 631 — (3,511) 185,057 284,314
— — — 232 — (1,416) (1,184)
100,968 1,169 631 232 (3,511) 183,641 283,130
— — — 127 — — 127
— — — — 1,697 — 1,697
— — — 127 1,697 — 1,824
— — — — — 31,128 31,128
- - - 127 1,697 31,128 32,952
100,968 1,169 631 359 (1,814) 214,769 316,082
- - - - — (17,141) (17,141)
— — 693 — — — 693
3,189 — (349) — — — 2,840
A 104,157 1,169 975 359 (1,814) 197,628 302,474
6,442
191,186
197,628
-
| -y it —
- - '!ik e ¥ ¥ |

N
Eﬂt_
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28. Reserves (Cont’d) 28. f#1& (&)
Share-based Cumulative
Share Capital compensati Invest translati Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve  adjustments profits Total
Bt 2%
BROEE  EXREE  BERE  RERE  EXEE REEA By

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Company NE
As at 31st March, 2004 R-ZEZME=ZA=1+-H 100,968 520 — — — 54,981 156,469
Loss for the year AEERHE — — — — — (631) (631)
Employee share option scheme EEBERETS

— Value of employee services — EERBEE — — 631 — — — 631
Dividends paid ERRE — — — — — (14,881) (14,881)

As at Tst April, 2005, as restated =~ RZZZRFEMA—HB -

E] 100,968 520 631 — — 39,469 141,588
Profit for the year AEERT - - — — - 544 544
Employee share options scheme EEERETS
— Value of employee services — EERKEE — — 693 — — — 693
— Issue of shares upon exercise —TREEBRE
of employee share options mETHRG 3,189 — (349) — — — 2,840
Dividends paid 2fRE — — — — — (17,141) (17,141)
As at 31st March, 2006 RZZEAEZF=+-8 104157 520 975 _ — 22,872 128,52
Representing: e
2006 dividend proposed ZERAERRRE 6,442
Others At 16,430
22,872
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29. Notes to the consolidated cash flow 29. RMEBERERME
statement
(a) Reconciliation of cash generated from (a) REEBRERAZHE:
operations:
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Profit before income tax B A& A 53,612 80,710
Interest income 2 WA (635) (226)
Interest expense FE & H 14,024 6,224
Depreciation of property, M- BEREZBHEZITE
plant and equipment 47,938 42,077
Amortisation of leasehold land HELHE AR
and land use rights | 2,752 534
Net gain on disposal of property, HEBEEE < W FH
plant and equipment (277) (756)
Gain on long-term investments REREWS — (63)
Share-based payments RGOS E 693 631
Operating cash flow before RITEEESE A
working capital changes RERETRE 118,107 129,131
Increase in inventories FEEm (12,439) (13,283)
Increase in trade and bills BEZRWERRREEE N
receivable (35,089) (22,664)
Increase in prepayments FEAREREZESEM
and deposits (2,405) (4,812)
Increase in trade and BAERREEE N
bills payable 12,354 35,180
Increase in accruals and EHEEREMEMNR
other payables £ in 369 13,619
Net cash generated from REFEECHSFE
operations 80,897 137,171
(b) In the cash flow statement, proceeds from b)) RELRERR HEVE BEK
disposal of property, plant and equipment REFMBWAREE :
comprise:
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Net book amount IR FE 38 1,527
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERRE
plant and equipment A& 277 756
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE BMERRKE

property, plant and equipment Z WA 315 2,283
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29. Notes to the consolidated cash flow
statement (Cont’d)

(c)

Major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31st March, 2006, the
Group financed its outstanding payable at 31st
March, 2005 in respect of purchase of property,
plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$7,255,000 (2005: HK$707,000).

30. Commitments

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments
Capital commitments, which were authorised
and contracted for, were:

Land and buildings THRETF
Machinery B 2=

Operating lease commitments

As at 31st March, 2006, the Group had lease
commitments under various non-cancellable
operating lease agreements extending to
October 2013. The total commitments payable
are analysed as follows:

TS ERAR MIEE

29. MEBEERERNHE (B

(0 FEHFHREXRH:
RZBEEXRE=ZA=+—HLEEE -
AEBR/NR-_ZEZERFE=Z/A=+—
BEBRABYE BERSRENHAA
B 7,255,0008 T (Z2E2HR
£ 1 707,00087T) °

30. AKiE
(@) BEAERAIE

EERBITNEREE  Hotrm

T :

Consolidated
me

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
1,507 7,633
14,576 55,835
16,083 63,468

(b) EXRZLWEE
AEERBEZOAUEE 2 BAYE
EEZNOmE (BREZZ-—=F1
RB)FAEZFBSHUT -

Consolidated

®E
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THBRT
Amounts payable BEH
— within one year — EFUR 10,763 4,147
— between two years — WMEZEEFR
and five years 16,390 9,266
— over five years — HEERE 5,751 8,066
32,904 21,479
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30.

31.

32.

Commitments (Cont’d)

(c) Other commitments
The total pre-determined fee payable to the
joint venture partner of Guangzhou Starlite
Environmental Friendly Center, Limited for 50
years up to 2044 amounted to approximately
HK$18,368,000 (2005: HK$18,505,000) (see
Note 18).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31st March, 2006, the Company had provided
guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its
subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$665,488,000 (2005: HK$621,748,000). The
facilities utilised by the subsidiaries as at 31st March,
2006 amounted to HK$300,871,000 (2005:
HK$205,400,000).

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2006, the Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$636,996,000
(2005: HK$606,374,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade
financing and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as
at the same date amounted to approximately
HK$316,731,000 (2005: HK$375,953,000). These
facilities were secured by:

(i)  mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings
with a net book value of approximately
HK$4,260,000 (2005: HK$6,201,000) (Note 15
and Note16(b));

(ii)  certain of the Group’s inventories held under
trust receipts bank loan arrangements (Note 19);

and

(iii) guarantees provided by the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries.

.

30.

31.

32.

TS ERAR MIEE

AiE (5]

(c) HfhAE
EREMNEXRRPLBRARAZE
BB TER] BEEAH18,368,00058 T
(ZZEZRF 118,505,000 7T) ' &H
ZEENNEFE EHB+FE (BRI
18) °

RAREE
RZBEXE=ZA=Z1+—0 ' X273
ETHBARMERITMEMIBHRAF
R #665,488,000 8 T (ZBEEHF
621,748,000 7T) - R=—FEEREF=A=
+-BEMBEATCHAZRITEESEY
A 300,871,000 T (Z 22 H &
205,400,00078 JT) °

RITEEEREEERH
RZBEERE=ZA=+—8 FEEER
HeEL  BERNEIMERBITRIES
RITEEHAENA636,996,0008 T (=ZF
ZARE 606,374,000/ 7T) © AR B E &
BRHZIRITIEEEEN316,731,000/8 T (=
FEERF : 375,953,000887T) o LLERIT
FEEREZEFEMNMT :

() AEBLHREFZE HEEFEE
#54,260,0008 T (ZFEZHEF :
6,201,000 7t ) ( B Ft 5% 15%
16(b)) ;

(i) AEBRETEVEBRTERZHRE
BrzETHRE (RME19 &

(i) ZARAREETHBRAMEZE
* o
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33. Related party transactions

During the year ended 31st March, 2006, the Group
was approximately 50.90% owned by Best Grade
Advisory Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands. Best Grade Advisory Limited is
owned by two discretionary trusts, the discretionary
beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
and Ms. Yeung Chui, directors of the Company.

(a) Particulars of significant transactions between

TS ERAR MIEE

33. REEALTZRS
R-ZBERF=ZA=1+—-HLEFE Best
Grade Advisory Limited (74 22 /8 #E 5 = 3%
SEMMIL) FH AR FS50.90%E#H o
Best Grade Advisory Limited H W 18155t
FE MZzE2EERZZIRABELRLD
RESMAEUNAEERBRELZL -

@ AEHEBEATETZEEXRSH

the Group and a related party are summarised BT :
as follows:
Consolidated
mEe
2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTET
Operating lease rentals XNEXERZNEET -
charged by related parties:
Megastar Enterprises Limited*  ZEXR{EZEBRAF* 58 47
* Megastar Enterprises Limited is beneficially owned * EXRLEERAABAARDNESHR

by Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors and
the Group’s management, the above
transactions were carried out in the usual
course of business and on normal commercial
terms, and in accordance with the terms of the
contract entered into by the Group and the
related party.

LETBEHER

ARBESERAEEZEEERS
PRSP R -REBZERE —RE
BIRR > RBAREEBEA L]

BRZIRFET °

(b) Key management compensation b)) TEEBAEMESEM
Consolidated
Fe)

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$"000

FER TR

Basic salaries and allowances EAXFERIERM 9,636 9,195

Discretionary bonuses BHREZIEA 1,280 1,059
Pension costs — defined RIAEE — RE

contribution plans HEEtE 175 136

Share-based payments R < AT BN & 304 312

11,395 10,702
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